1-17-2013

## State v. Iverson Appellant's Brief Dckt. 40359

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### A. Nature of the Case.

On June 20, 2011, Deputy Gorham of the Kootenai County Sheriff's Office cited Joseph Iverson (hereinafter "Appellant") with a battery of Daryl Farnham (hereinafter "complaining witness") in violation of Idaho Code § 18-903. In accordance with that citation, the Kootenai County Prosecutor's Office (hereinafter "State") filed a case on the battery on June 21, 2011. On August, 9, 2011 the Appellant appeared in court and pled not guilty to the charge. On August 17, 2011, the Appellant requested discovery in this matter pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 16. On August 23, 2011, the State provided its initial response to discovery specifically stating that anyone listed in the discovery could be called as a witness. After the initial discovery had been completed, the trial court held a pretrial conference in this matter on October 5, 2011.

Following the pretrial conference, the State filed several additional witness lists and updates to its initial response to discovery and the matter was set for trial. On October 11, 2011, the State provided a formal witness list that listed Shawn Farnham (hereinafter "Farnham") as a witness for the first time. On October 17, 2011, the trial court held the jury trial status conference and the matter was set for trial on October 19, 2011. On this date, the State filed its first amended witness list provided the medical records for the first time. On October 18, 2011, the State filed two more amended witness lists and two supplemental responses to discovery. In the amended witness lists, the State listed Dr. Farr as a witness for the first time. In the supplemental responses to discovery, the State provided photographs of the complaining witness taken after he had had surgery. The State, however, failed to provide any statements of Farnham in compliance

with the Appellant's initial discovery request of August 17, 2011 to which the State did not object.

The matter went to trial on October 19, 2011 following which the jury found the Appellant guilty of battery. At the trial, the Appellant asserted that the battery was justified because he was acting in self defense. On the morning of trial, the trial Court heard several pretrial motions. The Appellant made several motions in limine during the hearing. He argued that Farnham and Dr. Farr should not be allowed to testify because the State's late disclosure of them impaired his ability to prepare for trial. The Appellant also argued that the late disclosure of the medical records and photographs impaired his ability to prepare for trial. The Appellant further argued that admission of the photographs violates Rule 403 of the Idaho Rules of Evidence. In response, the State argued that it disclosed the discovery as soon as it got it. The State further argued that the photographs had probative value because they lent support to the notion that the Appellant had an object in his hand when he punched the complaining witness and would, therefore, show that the Appellant had used excessive force in punching the complaining witness. The State also argued that Farnham would testify as a witness that was present at the time of the incident. The trial court ruled that Farnham could testify and that Dr. Farr could testify as a custodian of records to admit the medical records. The Court also stated that the medical records would not be excluded as untimely and overruled the Appellant's objection as to photos in relation to the timeliness of their disclosure and their admissibility under Rule 403.

Subsequent to the hearing, the matter proceeded to trial. During the trial, the State introduced the medical records<sup>1</sup> and photographs into evidence and called Farnham as a witness. Contrary to the State's prior assertions, Farnham provided no testimony as a witness to the incident. Rather, he testified as to a text message that the Appellant allegedly sent to him after the incident. The State also provided no evidence that the Appellant had any object in his hand.

After the close of evidence, the parties presented their closing arguments. In the State's closing argument, the prosecutor stated that the only way that the Appellant could be acquitted on a self defense claim was that if his "only and best option" would have been to harm the complaining witness. The prosecutor went on to say that the Appellant acknowledged that a wiser course of action would have been to retreat and call the police. The prosecutor later stated that the Appellant understood when he was punching the complaining witness that he would fracture his eye socket.

Following the closing arguments, the jury returned a verdict of guilty. On February 6, 2012, the Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal alleging abuse of judicial discretion in allowing evidence of the extent of the complaining witness' injuries, abuse of judicial discretion in allowing Dr. Farr to testify as custodian of the medical records, abuse of judicial discretion in allowing Shawn Farnham to testify, prosecutorial misconduct, and cumulative error. The Appellant additionally argues that the late disclosure of evidence and witnesses deprived him of due process.

---

<sup>1</sup> The Appellant stipulated to the admissibility of the medical records after the trial court overruled the objection as to the timeliness of the disclosure of Dr. Farr as a witness (as custodian of records) and as to the timeliness of the disclosure of the medical records.

B. Statement of the Facts.

After the State charged the Appellant with battery, counsel for the Appellant entered an appearance on August 17, 2011 and requested discovery from the State. In the Appellant's Request for Discovery, he requested that the State provide papers, documents, and photographs intended for use as evidence at trial. The Appellant also requested the names of any witnesses that may be called at trial and any statements that those witnesses may have made to the prosecutor or to any agent of the prosecutor. In its response to discovery on August 23, 2011, the State did not object to any of these requests for discovery and, thus, acknowledged its obligation to comply with the Appellant's requests. In its initial response to discovery, the State provided a copy of Deputy Gorham's report and listed anyone mentioned in the report as its potential witnesses in this matter. Neither Farnham nor Dr. Farr is mentioned in the police report. The State first disclosed Farnham as a witness on October 11, 2011, more than six weeks after the State's initial response to discovery and a mere six days before the Jury Trial Status Conference. *See Tr. Vol. I, p. 31, L. 19-20.* The State, however, never provided a copy of any statements that Farnham made to the prosecutor or her agents. The State first provided the medical records admitted into evidence on October 17, 2011. *See Tr. Vol. I, p. 21, L. 6-7.* The State first disclosed Dr. Farr as a witness on October 18, 2011, the day after the Jury Trial Status Conference and the day before trial when it amended its witness list two more times. The State also first provided copies of photographs that were admitted at trial on October 18, 2011. *See Tr. Vol. I, p. 21, L. 2-4.* These photographs included pictures of the complaining witness after he had had surgery. *See Tr. Vol. I, p. 24, L. 13-14.*

Just prior to the trial of the matter on October 19, 2011, the trial court held a hearing on pretrial evidentiary issues. At the hearing, the Appellant made several motions in limine to exclude evidence and witnesses from the trial. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 20, L. 17 – p. 21, L. 25. The Appellant argued that the trial court should exclude the photographs provided to the defense the day before trial on the grounds that they violated Rule 403 of the Idaho Rules of Evidence and that their untimely disclosure impaired the Appellant's ability to prepare for trial. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 23, L. 24 – p. 26, L.14. The Appellant also moved to exclude the medical records based on their untimely disclosure. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 21, L. 6-7; *See also* Tr. Vol. I, p. 33, L. 9-10; *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 26, L. 15-23. The Appellant also objected to the State presenting Farnham and Dr. Farr as witness because of their untimely disclosure. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 21, L. 19-20.

In response to the Appellant's motions, the State argued that the medical records and photographs should be allowed into evidence and the witnesses should be allowed to testify because the late disclosure was not the result of bad faith on the State's part and the evidence was necessary to rebut the Appellant's self defense claim. The State argued that it provided the information to the defense as soon as it came into the State's possession. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 23, L. 9-22. The State also argued that the evidence was necessary to show that the amount of force that the Appellant used was not reasonable in an effort to rebut his self defense claim. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 23, L. 4-8. Specifically, the State argued that it was going to raise the issue of whether or not the Appellant had an object in his hand that enabled him to fracture the complaining witness' eye socket. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 27, L. 22 – p. 28, L. 22. The State also argued that it disclosed its witnesses late because it was unaware that they were witnesses until the day before trial. *See* Tr.

Vol. I, p. 29, L. 16-20. The State argued that it was offering Farnham merely as a witness to the incident itself. *Id.*; *see also* Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, L. 23-25.

Following the arguments of the parties, the trial Court ruled on the Appellant's motions in limine. The trial court ordered that the medical records would not be excluded as a result of their untimely disclosure and that Dr. Farr could testify as their custodian. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 32, L. 2-5. The trial court also ruled that the photographs could come into evidence. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 31, L. 12-15. The trial court further ruled that Farnham could testify in the trial. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 31, L. 22.

After the hearing on the pretrial issues and motions in limine on the morning of October 19, 2011, the matter went to trial and resulted in a guilty verdict of the crime of battery. At the trial, the State introduced the medical records, *see* Tr. Vol. II, p. 28, L. 9 – p. 29, L. 7, and the photographs, *see* Tr. Vol. II, p. 31, L. 2 – p. 33, L. 14; Tr. Vol. II, p. 33, L. 21 – p. 34, L. 19, into evidence. The State also called Farnham as a witness. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 86, L. 4 – p. 90, L. 17. Contrary to the State's prior assertions to the trial court and to defense counsel that Farnham would merely be testifying as a witness to the incident, *see* Tr. Vol. I, p. 29, L. 16-20; Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, L. 23-25, the State used him to introduce evidence of text messages that he claimed to have received from the Appellant subsequent to the incident. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 88, L. 10-24. At no point during the trial did the State ever introduce any evidence that would even suggest that the Appellant had any object in his hand when he struck the complaining witness, *see* Tr. Vol. II, p. 21, L. 1 – p. 98, L. 9. In fact, the State specifically argued that the Appellant was able to

fracture the complaining witness' eye socket as a result of his martial arts training. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 153, L. 13-17.

After the close of evidence, the parties made their closing arguments to the jury. During the State's closing argument, the prosecutor stated that the only way that the Appellant's actions were lawful was if he "found himself in a situation where his only and best option according to a reasonable person would have been to harm [the complaining witness.]" Tr. Vol. II, p. 149, L. 13-16. The prosecutor later argued that the Appellant knew that he was going to fracture the complaining witness' eye socket when he struck him. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 153, L. 13-17. The Appellant objected to this argument as misstating the facts. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 153, L. 19-22. The trial court overruled the Appellant's objection. *See* Tr. Vol. II, p. 153, L. 23.

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by misleading the tribunal?
2. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by trying to present evidence to inflame the passions of the jury?
3. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by misstating the law in closing argument?
4. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct by misstating the facts in closing argument?
5. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting the photographs in exhibits 2 and 3?
6. Did the late disclosure and subsequent admission at trial of the medical reports, photographs, and Farnham and Dr. Farr as witnesses result in a denial of due process for the Appellant?
7. Does the cumulative error doctrine apply?

## ARGUMENT

1. The Court should reverse the Appellant's conviction for battery because it is the result of the prosecutor's misconduct in misleading the tribunal, attempts to inflame the passions of the jury, misstatements of the law, and misstatements of fact.

The Court should reverse the Appellant's conviction on the basis that the prosecutor committed multiple acts of misconduct that prejudiced the Appellant. "Where a Appellant alleges error at trial that he had contemporaneously objected to, [the reviewing court] reviews the error on appeal under the harmless error test." *State v. Ellington*, 151 Idaho 53, 253 P.3d 727, 738 (2011). "When the alleged error is prosecutorial misconduct, first the Appellant must demonstrate that prosecutorial misconduct occurred, and then the Court must declare a belief beyond a reasonable doubt that the misconduct did not contribute to the jury's verdict, in order to find that the error was harmless and not reversible." *Id.*

If the Appellant fails to object to the misconduct, the appellate court reviews the misconduct for fundamental error. *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 219 (2010). When the Appellant fails to object, he bears the burden of showing that misconduct occurred, that it rose to the level of fundamental error, and that it was not harmless. *Id.* To meet his burden in showing that an error is fundamental, the Appellant must show that the error affected one or more of his unwaived constitutional rights, that the error was plain, and the error was not harmless. *Id.* at 226.

The reviewing court, however, need not employ a harmless error analysis for prosecutorial misconduct when it is the result of repetitive conduct coming out of the same

office. In *Darden v. Wainwright*, Justice Blackmun in his dissenting opinion argued that in order to discourage prosecutorial misconduct the Supreme Court should cease to apply a harmless error analysis. See 477 U.S. 168 (1986) (Blackmun, J., dissenting). In his opinion, Justice Blackmun stated:

Twice during the past year—in *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1, 105 S.Ct. 1038, 84 L.Ed.2d 1 (1985), and again today—this Court has been faced with clearly improper prosecutorial misconduct during the summations. Each time, the Court has condemned the behavior but affirmed the conviction. Forty years ago, Judge Jerome N. Frank, in dissent, discussed the Second Circuit’s similar approach in language we would do well to remember today:

“This Court has several times used vigorous language in denouncing government counsel for such conduct as that of the [prosecutor] here. But each time, it has said that, nevertheless, it would not reverse. Such an attitude of helpless piety is, I think, undesirable. It means actual condonation of counsel’s alleged offense, coupled with verbal disapprobation. If we continue to do nothing practical to prevent such conduct, we should cease to disapprove it. For otherwise it will be as if we declared in effect, ‘Government attorneys, without fear of reversal, may say just about what they please in addressing juries, for our rules on the subject are pretend-rules. If prosecutors win verdicts as a result of “disapproved” remarks, we will not deprive them of their victories; we will merely go through the form of expressing displeasure. The deprecatory words we use in our opinions on such occasions are purely ceremonial.’ Government counsel, employing such tactics, are the kind who, eager to win victories, will gladly pay the small price of a ritualistic verbal spanking. The practice of this court—recalling the bitter tear shed by the Walrus as he ate the oysters—breeds a deplorably cynical attitude towards the judiciary.” (footnote omitted). *United States v. Antonelli Fireworks Co.*, 155 F.2d 631, 661 (2nd Cir. 1946).

*Id.* at 205-206 (Blackmun, J., dissenting). In citing Justice Blackmun’s dissent approvingly, the Idaho Court of Appeals has stated that “circumstances may arise, particularly if there is a pattern of repetitious conduct by an individual prosecutor or a particular prosecutor’s office[] that would call for reversal for the reasons stated by Justice Blackmun despite the harmless nature of the

error.” *State v Phillips.*, 144 Idaho 82, 89 (Ct. App. 2007). The *Phillips* Court did not decide the question because it deemed that the error in that case was not harmless. *Id.* It is noteworthy, however, that Judge Schwartzman concurred in the opinion on the basis of the Blackmun doctrine. In his concurring opinion, Judge Pro Tem Schwartzman stated that he was applying the Blackmun doctrine in voting with the majority in that case. Specifically, he states:

I concur in the opinion of this Court despite the fact that I feel the conventional application of harmless error standards would not necessarily mandate reversal. This case represents yet another in a long line or pattern of repetitious misconduct from this prosecutorial office [the Kootenai County Prosecutor’s Office]. A catalogue of cases in which the doctrine of “harmless error” has reared its head and saved the conviction on appeal creates a less than enviable appellate track record. See *State v. Vandenacre*, 131 Idaho 507, 960 P.2d 190 (Ct.App.1998); *State v. Brown*, 131 Idaho 61, 951 P.2d 1288 (Ct.App.1998); *State v. Lovelass*, 133 Idaho 160, 983 P.2d 233 (Ct.App.1999); *State v. Cortez*, 135 Idaho 561, 21 P.3d 498 (Ct.App.2001); *State v. Kuhn*, 139 Idaho 710, 85 P.3d 1109 (Ct.App.2003). Two unpublished opinions also come readily to mind: *State v. Blythe*, Docket No. 25557, 135 Idaho 493, 20 P.3d 29, 2000 WL 1344686 (Ct.App. April 7, 2000), and *State v. Gadberry*, Docket No. 26604/26605 (Ct.App. Sept. 26, 2001). As our own Supreme Court has noted in *State v. Guzman*, 122 Idaho 981, 984 n. 1, 842 P.2d 660, 663 n. 1 (1992):

Mistakes must not become the practice instead of the exception. A court on observing that a pattern of mistakes has developed, on seeing yet another “mistake,” might readily decide to view such circumstance with jaundiced eye, and rule accordingly.

*Phillips*, 144 Idaho at 89 (Schwartzman, J., specially concurring). Since the *Phillips* decision, there has been a steady flow of prosecutorial misconduct coming from the Kootenai County Prosecutor’s Office. See, e.g., *Ellington*, 151 Idaho 53; *Perry*, 150 Idaho 209; *State v. Beebe*, 145 Idaho 570 (Ct. App. 2007). Thus, this Court in reviewing this matter should decline to apply the harmless error doctrine.

A. This Court should find that the prosecutor engaged in misconduct when she affirmatively misled the trial court about the reason she was seeking to admit the photographs of the complaining witness and about the nature of Farnham's testimony.

This Court should find that the prosecutor's acts of deceiving the trial court constitute prosecutorial misconduct. When the Appellant made his motions in limine to exclude the photographs from evidence and Farnham as a witness, the prosecutor affirmatively misled the trial court in its argument. While arguing the issue of whether or not Rule 403 of the Idaho Rules of Evidence foreclosed the admission of the photographs of the complaining witness, the State argued that the photographs had probative value because it would substantiate other evidence that the Appellant had an object in his hand when he struck the complaining witness. Tr. Vol. I, p. 27, L. 22 – p. 28, L. 22. The trial court eventually denied the motion in limine and allowed the State to present the photographs. Tr. Vol. I, p. 37, L. 12-16. At no point in the trial did the State present any evidence to support its claim that Appellant had an object in his hand when he struck the complaining witness. Thus, the prosecutor's statement to the trial court in its argument to overcome the Appellant's objection to a potentially inflammatory piece of evidence as to its purpose in admitting the photographs was false or misleading and, therefore, constitutes misconduct.

The prosecutor also committed misconduct when she deceived the trial court as to the nature of Farnham's testimony. When the Appellant objected to the late disclosure of Farnham as a witness for the State, the prosecutor argued that he would testify as a witness to the incident at issue. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 22, L. 23-25; Tr. Vol. I, p. 29, L. 16-20. The trial court ultimately ruled

that the Appellant would not be prejudiced by the untimely disclosure of Farnham. *See* Tr. Vol. I, p. 31, L. 22. The prosecutor's statements, however, were demonstrably false. The prosecutor's false statements as to this issue constituted additional misconduct.

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