4-11-2013

State v. Iverson Respondent's Brief Dckt. 40359

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

As I indicated to the Court at various times during the hearing, this is a possible theory. It's a possible theory, Your

Honor, based on my conversations with witnesses in preparation for trial. They were positing to me that their question or belief that there must have been something in the defendant's hand in order to cause the kind of force that occurred in this situation, the kind of force sufficient to break an orbital socket.

Throughout the course of the trial, You Honor, I chose not to put on evidence to that effect because the further I spoke to the witnesses about it, the more concerned I became that it might be speculative, and so we didn't put that on.

However, what also became clear is that the defendant has martial arts training which explains why the force in this matter was so profound. It was one reasonable theory to conclude that there was some other object involved, but that theory never made it to the Court.

The bigger picture again, Judge, is the issue of excessive force, which is obviously an issue in this case, and as the Court indicated earlier, there are a number of theories that one may adduce to get there.

(7/31/2012 Tr., p.30, L.5 – p.31, L.1.)

There is nothing in the record to contradict the prosecutor's statement to the trial court that the witnesses present believed Darryl Farnham was struck "possibly with the uh, use of some sort of object." (10/19/2011 Motions Hearing Tr., p.28, Ls.5-6.) The decision to ultimately not further develop at trial the theory that Iverson used an object to enhance the power of his blow did not violate any constitutional right, is not clear error on the record, and did not prejudice Iverson. Iverson has failed to show any misstatement by the prosecutor which led to the introduction of otherwise inadmissible evidence at trial or any abuse of discretion by the trial court in allowing the photographs be offered in spite of their late disclosure.

2. There Is Nothing In The Record To Support Iverson's Claim That The Prosecutor Deceived The Trial Court As To The Nature Of A Witness's Testimony

Iverson claims on appeal “[t]he prosecutor also committed misconduct when she deceived the trial court as to the nature of [Shawn] Farnham’s testimony.” (Appellant’s brief, p.12.) Iverson asserts “[t]he prosecutor’s misleading statement as to the nature of [Shawn] Farnham’s testimony prevented the Appellant from effectively cross examining him on the stand.” (Appellant’s brief, p.13.) Because Iverson has failed to show any affirmative misstatement by the prosecutor he has failed to show fundamental error.

At a motion hearing the morning of trial, Iverson objected to the testimony of recently disclosed witnesses. (10/19/2011 motions Hearing Tr., p.21, Ls.15-20.) The trial court ultimately limited the testimony of one witness and excluded the testimony of another as a sanction for the state’s late disclosure. (10/19/2011 Motions Hearing Tr., p.32, Ls.1-17.) In response to Iverson’s objection to the late disclosure of Shawn Farnham, the state represented to the trial court that “the witnesses that [Iverson’s] objection to, these are people who were present on that date . . .”. (10/19/2011 motions Hearing Tr., p.22, Ls.23-24.) The trial court allowed the testimony of Shawn Farnham, a fact witness, after being advised Shawn Farnham had been previously disclosed to Iverson between the pretrial and the jury trial status conference. (10/19/2011 Motions Hearing Tr., p.31, Ls.19-23.)

At trial, Shawn Farnham testified that he became aware that Iverson punched his brother Darryl Farnham when Iverson texted Shawn Farnham telling

him he “just beat the fuck” out of his brother and that it had “been a long time comin’.” (JT Tr., p.88, Ls.15-16.) The only objection to Shawn Farnham’s testimony made by Iverson at trial was based on hearsay and overruled by the trial court. (JT Tr., p.87, L.14 – p.88, L.8.) Iverson cross-examined Shawn Farnham as to the existence of these text messages. (JT Tr., p.89, L.5 – p.90, L.10.)

Iverson argues for the first time on appeal that the state made a misrepresentation to the trial court that Shawn Farnham “would testify as a witness to the incident at issue.” (Appellant’s brief, p.12.) This was not the basis of an objection at trial and was therefore not preserved for appeal. “Generally Idaho’s appellate courts will not consider error not preserved for appeal through an objection at trial.” State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 224, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010) (citations omitted). Where a claim is raised for the first time on appeal, the appellate court will consider whether the error alleged qualifies as fundamental error. Id. 150 Idaho at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

Iverson does not argue that the introduction of Shawn Farnham’s testimony at trial violates an unwaived constitutional right. His unpreserved argument therefore fails on the first prong of Perry. Although Shawn Farnham was not physically present at the battery he was a fact witness who testified that Iverson made admissions to him about his conduct shortly after the incident. It is also not clear from the record the prosecution was not talking about Darren Potter or Robert Farr, the witnesses ultimately excluded by the trial court. Finally, to the extent the prosecutor’s statement is inaccurate where Shawn

Farnham was physically located at the time of the battery and such inaccuracy had nothing to do with whether Shawn Farnham's testimony should be excluded as a sanction for late disclosure, as such, Iverson has failed to show any error, much less fundamental error.

II.

Iverson Has Failed To Establish Prosecutorial Misconduct During The State's Closing Argument

A. Introduction

Iverson argues that during trial the prosecutor committed misconduct "when she misstated the facts" in closing argument. (Appellant's brief, p.16.) Iverson did object to this statement during trial and his objection was overruled. (JT Tr., p.153, Ls.19-23.)

Iverson also argues, for the first time on appeal, that the prosecutor made an additional statement during closing argument that constituted prosecutorial misconduct and amounted to fundamental error. Specifically, he contends that the prosecutor committed misconduct when "she misstated the law that applies in a self defense case." (Appellant's brief, p.15.) A review of the record shows no misconduct by the prosecutor during closing argument, much less misconduct rising to the level of fundamental error.

B. Standard Of Review

On review of a decision rendered by a district court in its intermediate appellate capacity, the reviewing court "directly review[s] the district court's decision." State v. DeWitt, 145 Idaho 709, 711, 184 P.3d 215, 217 (Ct. App.

2008) (citing Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 183 P.3d 758 (2008)). The appellate court “examine[s] the magistrate record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings.” Id.

“[T]he standard of review governing claims of prosecutorial misconduct depends on whether the defendant objected to the misconduct at trial.” State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 715, 215 P.3d 414, 435 (2009). If the alleged error was followed by a contemporaneous objection at trial, the defendant bears the initial burden on appeal of establishing that the complained of conduct was improper. State v. Ellington, 151 Idaho 53, 59, 253 P.3d 727, 733 (2011); State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010). “Where the defendant meets his initial burden of showing that a violation occurred, the State then has the burden of demonstrating to the appellate court beyond a reasonable doubt that the constitutional violation did not contribute to the jury's verdict.” Perry, 150 Idaho at 227-28, 245 P.3d at 979-80. When, on the other hand, a defendant fails to timely object at trial to allegedly improper closing arguments by the prosecutor, the conviction will be set aside for prosecutorial misconduct only upon a showing by the defendant that the alleged misconduct rises to the level of fundamental error. Id. at 228, 245 P.3d at 980.

Whether preserved by objection at trial or reviewed for fundamental error, a mere assertion or finding that a particular question or statement was objectionable or improper is insufficient to establish prosecutorial misconduct. As explained by the United States Supreme Court: “[I]t is not enough that the

prosecutors' remarks were undesirable or even universally condemned. The relevant question is whether the prosecutors' comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process." Darden v. Wainwright, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986) (internal quotations and citations omitted); see also Smith v. Phillips, 455 U.S. 209, 219 (1982) ("[T]he touchstone of due process analysis in cases of alleged prosecutorial misconduct is the fairness of the trial, not the culpability of the prosecutor.") State v. Reynolds, 120 Idaho 445, 451, 816 P.2d 1002, 1008 (Ct. App. 1991) (the function of appellate review is "not to discipline the prosecutor for misconduct, but to ensure that any such misconduct did not interfere with the defendant's right to a fair trial").

C. Iverson Has Failed To Establish The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct During Closing Argument

1. Iverson Has Failed To Show That The Prosecutor's Statement About The Level Of Force Used By Iverson Was Misconduct

A closing argument may not misrepresent or mischaracterize the evidence, unduly emphasize irrelevant facts introduced at trial, refer to facts not in evidence, argue as substantive evidence matters admitted for limited evidentiary purposes, or misrepresent the law or the reasonable doubt burden. State v. Phillips, 144 Idaho 82, 86-87, 156 P.3d 583, 587-88 (Ct. App. 2007). However, it is well settled that both sides have traditionally been afforded considerable latitude in closing argument to the jury and are entitled to discuss fully, from their respective standpoints, the evidence and the inferences to be drawn therefrom. See State v. Sheahan, 139 Idaho 267, 280, 77 P.3d 956, 969 (2003); Phillips, 144 Idaho at 86, 156 P.3d at 587.

Iverson argues “[t]he prosecutor committed misconduct when she argued that the Appellant knew that he might fracture the complaining witness’ eye socket when he punched him because there were no facts in evidence to support such an assertion.” (Appellant’s brief, p.16 (citation to the trial transcript omitted).) Because the state’s argument was a permissible inference from the facts presented at trial, Iverson’s argument fails.

At trial, Iverson objected to the following portion of the state’s closing argument:

Now, I’m not a doctor and I don’t have medical training and I don’t know if – if any of you do, um, so I don’t know exactly what we’re talking about. But I do know that we’re talking about numerous fractures. We’re talking about some serious bodily harm. I would submit to you that that is excessive force. And I would also submit to you that Mr. Iverson, given the kind of training he had as a black belt in Taekwondo, understood that this is the sort of thing that’s gonna [sic] result from the blow that he landed. He acknowledged that he’s been doing this for a long time.

(JT Tr., p.153, Ls.8-18.) This argument was not inconsistent with Iverson’s earlier testimony that he was a first degree black belt in Taekwondo and had been trained in proper technique and control when it came to punching people. (See JT Tr., p.115, Ls.1-17.) Based on Iverson’s training, it was a reasonable inference that he knew the potential injuries he would inflict when he punched Darryl Farnham.

2. Iverson Has Failed To Show That The Prosecutor’s Statement Regarding Self-Defense Amounted To Fundamental Error

An unpreserved issue may only be considered on appeal if it “constitutes fundamental error.” State v. Johnson, 149 Idaho 259, 265, 233 P.3d 190, 196 (Ct. App. 2010). In the absence of an objection “the appellate court’s authority to

remedy that error is strictly circumscribed to cases where the error results in the defendant being deprived of his or her Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a fair trial in a fair tribunal.” State v. Perry, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 245 P.3d 961, 976 (2010). Review without objection will not lie unless (1) the defendant demonstrates that “one or more of the defendant’s unwaived constitutional rights were violated;” (2) the constitutional error is “clear or obvious” on the record, “without the need for any additional information” including information “as to whether the failure to object was a tactical decision;” and (3) the “defendant must demonstrate that the error affected the defendant’s substantial rights,” generally by showing a reasonable probability that the error “affected the outcome of the trial proceedings.” Id. at 227-8, 245 P.3d at 978.

Iverson argues that the prosecutor committed misconduct rising to the level of fundamental error by misstating the law as it applies in a self defense case. (Appellant’s brief, pp.15-16.) Iverson, however, has failed to show fundamental error from the record. Indeed, a review of the record and the applicable law shows that the argument singled out was not improper, and as such, Iverson has failed to satisfy even the first prong of the fundamental error analysis.

A prosecutor has considerable latitude in closing argument. State v. Severson, 147 Idaho 694, 720, 215 P.3d 414, 440 (2009); State v. Porter, 130 Idaho 772, 786, 948 P.2d 127, 141 (1997); State v. Priest, 128 Idaho 6, 14, 909 P.2d 624, 632 (Ct. App. 1995). He or she is entitled to argue all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the record. Severson, 147 Idaho at 720, 215

P.3d at 440; Porter, 130 Idaho at 786, 948 P.2d at 141 (citing State v. Garcia, 100 Idaho 108, 110, 594 P.2d 146, 148 (1979)). If a prosecutor exceeds this latitude and “attempts to secure a verdict on any factor other than the law as set forth in the jury instructions and the evidence admitted during trial, including reasonable inferences that may be drawn from that evidence, this impacts a defendant’s Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.” Perry, 150 Idaho at 227, 245 P.3d at 979.

In this case, Iverson contends that

the prosecutor’s statement regarding what Appellant’s right to self defense was an inaccurate statement of the law and went to the core foundation of the Appellant’s right to be found guilty only when the evidence shows beyond a reasonable doubt that he was not acting in self defense.

(Appellant’s brief, p.16.) Iverson asserts on appeal that in her closing argument the prosecutor “stated that the Appellant could only avail himself of self defense in the event that striking the complaining witness was his only and best option.”

(Appellant’s brief, p.16.) Iverson contends “this misstates the law as the Appellant has no duty to retreat, even if retreating is a better option.” (Id.)

Iverson cites to a brief portion of the state’s closing argument as a misstatement of the law, asserting the state’s argument was that Iverson “could only avail himself of the self defense doctrine if he ‘genuinely found himself in a situation where his only and best option according to a reasonable person would have been to harm [the complaining witness.]’” (Appellant’s brief, p.15 (citation to the trial transcript omitted).) Although Iverson claims on appeal that this is a direct statement contrary to the law not requiring a person acting in self-defense

retreat (Appellant's brief, p.16), the prosecutor's statement was not inconsistent with the self-defense jury instructions as a whole. The prosecutor followed up the cited-to statement with a discussion of the self-defense jury instructions previously read to the jury by the trial court and the necessity that the jury find Iverson was in imminent danger before resorting to a reasonable level of self-defense. (See JT Tr., p.149, L.17 – p.152, L.17.) Iverson asserts this "misstatement goes to the core of the Appellant's rights under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to a fair trial and due process of law" (Appellant's brief, p.16), but fails to show how the state's closing argument was inconsistent with the self-defense jury instructions (R., pp.98-100 (self-defense instructions, including no duty to retreat)). Iverson has failed to show error, much less error of constitutional significance.

Because a review of the record shows that the argument Iverson challenges was based on the state's proper review of the self-defense jury instructions, Iverson has failed to show that the argument was improper. He also has failed to show prejudice because there is no reason to believe the jury failed to follow its jury instructions on self-defense. His unpreserved claim of prosecutorial misconduct therefore fails under Perry.

III.

Iverson Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Evidentiary Rulings

A. Introduction

Iverson argues that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting photographs of Darryl Farnham's injuries at trial because it failed to conduct the

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